FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 10/27/2020 11:54 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/27/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

99157-0

No. 53007-4-II

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON

PAUL UMINSKI, Respondent/Plaintiff

V.

CLARK COUNTY, Petitioner/Defendant

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT

DOUGLAS M. PALMER, WSBA 35198 Attorney for Respondent/Plaintiff Hamrick Palmer PO Box 1306 Vancouver, WA 98666 360-553-0207

## **

#### **Issue Presented for Review**

Whether a party substantially complies with RCW 51.52.110 when the Office of the Attorney General actually receives the appealing party's notice of appeal within the statutorily prescribed 30 days?

The Supreme Court should grant review, per RAP 13.4(b)(1), on this issue because this Court's holding in *Black v. Department of Labor & Indus.*, 131 Wn.2d 547, 933 P.2d 1025 (1997) holding that service on an Assistant Attorney General substantially complies with RCW 51.52.110.

The Court should grant review, per RAP 13.4(b)(1), because Division II wrongly substituted its own factual findings, despite substantial evidence supporting the trial court's findings contrary to *Ruse v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 138 Wn.2d 1, 5, 977 P.2d 570 (1999).

Also, the Court should grant review, per RAP 13.4(b)(2), because the decision conflicted with Division 2's holding in *Reeves v. Dep't of Gen. Admin.*, 35 Wn. App. 533, 537-8, 667 P.2d 1133 (1983) that RCW 4.92.020 (permitting service on Assistant Attorney Generals on any actions against the State) only applies to original actions under a superior court's general jurisdiction, unless new authority (as in *Black*), permits such service.

Instead, this Court should hold that where an Assistant Attorney General receives actual notice of a superior court appeal prior to the 30-day appeal deadline constitutes substantial compliance with RCW 51.52.110 and RCW 4.92.020.

#### Statement of the Case

On May 16, 2018, the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals issued its Order Denying Mr. Uminski's Petition for Review. The 30<sup>th</sup> day from this Order was Friday, June 15, 2018. Mr. Uminski's attorneys received that Order on May 21, 2018. The 30<sup>th</sup> day from receipt of this Order was Wednesday June 20, 2018.

On June 4, 2018, Mr. Uminski filed and served a Notice of Appeal in Clark County Superior Court. This filing was made within the time limits imposed by RCW 51.52.110. The Notice of Appeal was directly served on the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals and the Self-Insured Employer, Clark County. (Appendix A)

While Mr. Uminski did not directly serve the Department of Labor & Industries, the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals forwarded Mr. Uminski's Notice of Appeal to the Attorney General's Office. It was forwarded to James Johnson, Assistant Attorney General, who received it on June 14, 2018. (Appendix A & B). The next day, June 15, Assistant Attorney General Johnson averred "We [The Department of Labor & Industries] had decided not to participate." (Appendix B, page 2, lines 2-3). Assistant Attorney General Johnson also declared that he was the

attorney of record for the Department. (Appendix B, page 2, lines 4-6). The RCW 51.52.110 30-day appeal deadline ran on June 19, 2018 (the 30<sup>th</sup> day after the May 16, 2018 decision was communicated to Mr. Uminski's attorney). The Department then notified the Court of its non-participation in mid-July 2018. (Appendix B, page 2, lines 4-8).

Clark County Superior Court then denied Defendant's Motion to Dismiss. (C.P. p. 36). The Superior Court reasoned that despite defects in service, "the documents got over to the attorneys that were in the position to make the decision, whether that constitutes substantial compliance for jurisdictional purposes under *Black*. I find that it does." Report of Proceedings p. 5, ln. 11-17.

Defendant's sought discretionary review from Division 2, which was granted. Division II then reversed the decision of the Clark County Superior Court, holding that despite actual, timely receipt by Assistant Attorney General Johnson, that Plaintiff, Mr. Uminski did not substantially comply with RCW 51.52.110 and there was insufficient evidence to conclude the Department had actual notice of the appeal. Mr. Uminski sought reconsideration, which was denied by Division II.

#### Standard of Review

This appeal involves a question of statutory construction, which is reviewed *de novo*. *Krawiec v. Red Dot Corp.*, 189 Wn. App. 234 P.3d 854

(2015).

#### Argument

Based upon a long line of case, the Court should grant review as this Court has established that substantially compliance with the service requirements of RCW 51.52.110 is sufficient. *Black v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 131 Wn.2d 547, 553, 933 P.2d 1025 (1997); *Fay v. Northwest Airlines*, 115 Wn.2d 194, 199 (1990); *Dougherty v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 150 Wn.2d 310, 76 P.3d 1183 (2003); *In re Saltis*, 94 Wn. 2d 889, 896, 621 P.2d 716 (1980); *see also Skinner v. Civil Serv. Comm'n of City of Medina*, 168 Wn.2d 845, 855, 232 P.3d 558, 562 (2010) (applying *Black* to another statutory scheme). The decision of Division 2 conflicts with this Court's holding in *Black*. RAP 13.4(b)(1)

This Court's decision in *Black* is most instructive. In that case, the injured worker served his superior court notice of appeal on a specific assistant attorney general, but did not serve the Department directly. This Court positively cited to Division III's decision in *Vasquez v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 44 Wn. App. 379, 722 P.2d 854 (1986) that service on the attorney representing a self-insured employer's attorney was sufficient. *Black*, 131 Wn.2d at 554. The *Black* Court also noted that in *Fay*, *supra*, the Court assumed that service on "a self-insurer's attorney was sufficient service under RCW 51.52.110." *Black*, 131 Wn.2d at 554. This Court held,

"Vasquez and Fay are on point." Id. In other words, where an Assistant Attorney General receives a notice of appeal, that substantially complies with RCW 51.52.110.

However, below, Division II disagreed. Here, the Court first cited *In re Saltis* for the proposition that the requirements of RCW 51.52.110's requirements should be practically interpreted so that "interested parties receive actual notice of appeals of Board decisions." *Slip Opinion*, p. 5, *citing In re Saltis*, 94 Wn.2d at 895. But the Court held that actual receipt by Assistant Attorney General Johnson followed by the Department's filing of its Notice of Non-Participation was insufficient to meet the principles this Court laid down in *Saltis*. *Slip Opinion*, p. 7. This is in direct conflict with *Black* and by implication *Fay*.

Division II held, contrary to the plain holding of *Black*, there must be evidence in the record that the Director of the Department of Labor & Industries had direct, actual notice of this appeal. *Id.* By so holding, Division II effectively overturned this Court's precedent in *Black*: timely receipt of an appeal by an attorney representing a party means timely receipt of the appeal by that party. By so holding, Division II substituted its own evidentiary findings for the trial court's, despite substantial evidence supporting the trial court's findings. Also, requiring additional evidence beyond actual receipt by an attorney of record impugns the professionalism

of the attorney (RPC 1.2(f)) and invades attorney-client communications. By so doing, the decision below created an untenable standard of proof with adverse policy implications. The Court should grant review, per RAP 13.4(b)(1), to reaffirm that its 1997 decision in *Black* remains good law.

# a. In addition to not following *Black*, Division II wrongly substituted its factual determinations.

The decision below wrongly imposed its own factual determination for the determination made by the trial court in violation of established Supreme Court precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1). Appellate courts may only disturb factual determinations of trial courts if the record lacks substantial evidence to support the trial court's findings. *Ruse*, 138 Wn.2d at 5. Clark County Superior Court found there was sufficient notice to the Department of Labor & Industries, the party-in-interest:

So, it's just a question of whether under these circumstances where the claimant, or the person filing the appeal, didn't serve the documents, but the documents got over to the attorneys that were in the position to make the decision, whether that constitutes substantial compliance for jurisdictional purposes under Black. I find that it does.

Report of Proceedings p. 5, ln. 11-17. The trial court also noted, that Assistant Attorney General Johnson "was not just any attorney general, it was one who felt that by the next day he could decide they won't let him plan to participate in this case. So, he sounds like he had some authority."

*Id.* p. 2, ln. 17-20.

This is substantially supported by Assistant Attorney General Johnson's declaration that he and his client had sufficient notice such that "we could decide whether the Department of Labor & Industries would actively participate in the case. By June 15, 2018, we had decided not to participate." CP at 23-24. Mr. Johnson also swore under oath that he was the attorney of record on behalf of the Department in this matter. CP at 23-24. Then Assistant Attorney General Johnson, with authority from the Department, notified the Clark County Superior Court of its non-participation. *Id.* This process worked exactly as intended by RCW 51.52.110, despite the defects.

The Court of Appeals, instead, relied upon the Declaration of Ms. Yaconetti. CP at 19. Ms. Yaconetti confirmed what Mr. Uminski has acknowledged: his Notice of Appeal was not directly sent to Department. Division II ended its analysis there, despite the holding in *Black*. Ms. Yaconetti did not aver the Department had no actual knowledge of the appeal, merely that an appeal had not been recorded in the log she manages. This is insufficient for Division II to effectively conclude this record lacked the substantial evidence to support the trial court's findings.

b. Requiring the Director to have actual knowledge of every workers compensation appeal does not achieve the practical purposes of RCW 51.52.110.

Division II's holding creates an untenable burden of proof with adverse policy incentives. First, any superior court appeal is subject to dismissal so long as the appealing party cannot present affirmative evidence of the Director's actual knowledge of the appeal. Such inquiry not only invades attorney-client communication, but may require routine fact-finding hearings with testimony by the Director as permitted by RCW 51.52.115<sup>1</sup>. Taken at face value, Division II's holding would routinely require the Director to testify in every jurisdiction across the state about his knowledge of any particular appeal. This does not achieve the purpose of the Act.

Also, the issue here, per *Black*, is not whether the Department received actual notice, but whether Assistant Attorney General Johnson, the Department's attorney of record, received timely, actual notice of the appeal. There is sufficient evidence in this record to support the trial court's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "That in cases of alleged irregularities in procedure before the board, not shown in said record, testimony thereon may be taken in the superior court. The proceedings in every such appeal shall be informal and summary, but full opportunity to be heard shall be had before judgment is pronounced."

findings. The trial court's conclusion that Mr. Uminski substantially complied with RCW 51.52.110 flowed naturally from that finding. The Court should grant review to affirm that actual, timely receipt by an attorney representing a party-in-interest is sufficient to meet its holding in *Black*. It is sufficient because it achieves the practical purpose of letting parties or their attorney of record know about the appeal. *In re Saltis*, 94 Wn.2d at 895; *Black*, 131 Wn.2d at 554.

# c. Division II's decision below also conflicted with its own decision in *Reeves*.

Finally, the Court should grant review because RCW 4.92.020 mandates that actual receipt by an Assistant Attorney General is sufficient to serve the State of Washington. When reading the statute as a whole, Division II's emphasis on the Department's actual receipt is legal error this Court should clarify. Chapter 4.92 RCW governs the initiation of claims and against the State. RCW 4.92.020 provides,

Service of summons and complaint in such actions shall be served in the manner prescribed by law upon the attorney general, <u>or</u> by leaving the summons and complaint in the office of the attorney general with an assistant attorney general.

(Emphasis added). Here, an Assistant Attorney General actually and timely received Mr. Uminski's Notice of Appeal consistent with RCW 4.92.020.

In *Reeves*, 35 Wn. App. 533, Division II originally limited RCW 4.92.020 to only original actions under a superior court's general jurisdiction. The Court reasoned that appeals from administrative tribunals invokes the Superior Court's appellate, not original jurisdiction. *Id.* at 537. The *Reeves* Court acknowledged this Court's holding in *Saltis* that permitted substantial compliance "with statutory provisions to invoke the *appellate*, as well as the *general*, jurisdiction of the courts." *Id. citing In re Saltis*, 94 Wn.2d 889. The *Reeves* Court noted that even in light of *Saltis*, "no authority exists permitting noncompliance with the statutory mandate." *Id.* at 538.

However, the *Reeves* Court goes on to hold, "Service upon the Attorney General is neither service upon the statutorily designated administrative head of an administrative agency nor upon the statutorily designated agency itself." *Id. citing Smith v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 23 Wn. App. 516, 596 P.2d 296, *rev. den.*, 92 Wn.2d 1013 (1979). Yet almost 20 years later, this Court held exactly that: service upon the Attorney General substantially complies RCW 51.52.110's designation of service upon the Director. *Black*, 131 Wn.2d 547.

Below, Division II was aware that such authority now exits: Vasquez, Fay, and Black. Supra. While at a superficial level Division II was following Reeves, Reeves itself acknowledged authority, like in Black, may allow for service on an attorney despite the statutory language. Division II failed to follow the deeper holding of *Reeves*. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

This Court should grant review to affirm the deeper holding of *Reeves*: Where the Attorney General is designated as the representative of the State or Agency, then service of an administrative appeal pursuant to RCW 4.92.020 is not merely substantial compliance, but actual compliance. Here, RCW 51.52.140 designates the Attorney General as the legal advisor and representative of the Department. RCW 4.92.020 permits service of actions upon an Assistant Attorney General.

Again, the trial court found the Assistant Attorney General received timely, actual notice of Mr. Uminski's Notice of Appeal, despite the service defects. Substantial evidence supports this finding. Division II acknowledged that by June 15, 2018, nearly a week prior to the jurisdictional cut-off for Mr. Uminski's appeal, the Department made its decision not to participate in this appeal. Slip Opinion p. 3. Substantial evidence supports this finding. As the trial court noted, Mr. Johnson "was not just any attorney general, it was one who felt that by the next day he could decide they won't let him plan to participate in this case. So, he sounds like he had some authority." Report of Proceedings p. 2, ln. 17-20. The Court should grant review because these facts satisfies RCW 51.52.110 and RCW 4.92.020 as held by this Court in *Black v. Dep't of Labor & Indus*.

#### Conclusion

The Court should grant review, per RAP 13.4(b)(1), to re-affirm its core holding in *Black*: actual, timely receipt of a notice of appeal by an Assistant Attorney General substantially complies with RCW 51.52.110. The Court should grant review, per RAP 13.4(b)(1), because Division II wrongly substituted its own factual findings, contrary to *Ruse*, 138 Wn.2d at 5, despite substantial evidence supporting the trial court's findings. The Court should grant review to reject Division II's attempt to undermine *Black* by requiring additional factual evidence of the Director's actual knowledge of the appeal with its adverse evidentiary and policy implications. The Court should grant review, per RAP 13.4(b)(2), to hold RCW 4.92.090 does apply to administrative appeals to superior court where the Attorney General is the designated legal advisor of the State agency.