FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/29/2020 10:13 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 99157-0

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PAUL UMINSKI,

Petitioner,

v.

CLARK COUNTY,

Respondent.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW, DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

STEVE VINYARD
Assistant Attorney General
WSBA #29737
Office Id. No. 91022
Office of the Attorney General
Labor and Industries Division
P.O. Box 40121
Olympia, WA 98504-0121
360-586-7715

# **

#### I. INTRODUCTION

A party who does not attempt to serve an appeal on a necessary party has not substantially complied with the service requirements.

Paul Uminski failed to meet the statutory requirements for perfecting an appeal of a Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals (Board) decision by failing to serve his notice of appeal on either the Department of Labor and Industries (Department) or the Attorney General's Office. And though the Attorney General's Office happened to have received a copy of the appeal, this was merely fortuitous as far as Uminski is concerned, as Uminski made no attempt to serve either the Department or the Attorney General's Office. The Court of Appeals followed well-settled precedent in concluding that Uminski failed to perfect the appeal and that this mandated the appeal's dismissal.¹

Uminski did not substantially comply with RCW 51.52.110 because he did not make any attempt to serve the appeal on the Department, a necessary party under the statute. Citing *Black v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 131 Wn.2d 547, 933 P.2d 1025 (1997), Uminski argues that he substantially complied because—due to circumstances that occurred independently of Uminski's actions—the Attorney General's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> *Uminski v. Clark Cnty.*, No. 53007-4-II, 2020 WL 4195988 (Wash. Ct. App. July 21, 2020) (unpublished) (slip. op.). A copy of the slip opinion is attached as appendix 1.

Office had actual knowledge of the appeal. Pet. at 4–6. But to show substantial compliance under *Black*, Uminski had to actually attempt to serve the appeal on either the Department or the Attorney General's Office, which he did not do. Uminski shows no conflict with *Black* or other case law, and thus fails to demonstrate a basis for this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

This Court should deny the petition for review.

#### II. ISSUES

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals properly dismiss Uminski's appeal because Uminski did not serve it on either the Department or the Attorney General's Office, when the courts have ruled that perfection of statutory requirements is necessary to secure appellate jurisdiction?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals correctly address the legal question of whether the undisputed facts established actual or substantial compliance with RCW 51.52.110?

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Uminski Appealed a Board Decision To Superior Court but Did Not Serve the Appeal on the Department or the Attorney General's Office

The Board issued a decision regarding an injured worker,
Paul Uminski. *See* CP 3–6.<sup>2</sup> Uminski filed an appeal from the Board's
decision with the Clark County Superior Court. CP 1–2. Uminski served

2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The record does not establish the substance of the Board's decision in this case, nor the substance of the underlying decision by the Department that was the subject of the Board appeal. *See* CP 3–6.

the appeal on the Board and the employer, but did not serve the appeal on either the Department or the Attorney General's Office. *See* CP 1–2, 11, 16–20. Uminski's proof of service did not assert that he served the appeal on either the Department or the Attorney General's Office. CP 18.

A Department employee who is responsible for monitoring superior court appeals signed a declaration indicating that the Department had not received a copy of the appeal. CP 19–20. The Attorney General's Office nonetheless received a copy of Uminski's appeal. See CP 23–24. An Assistant Attorney General signed a declaration that stated that the office had received a copy of the appeal, though not from whom the office had received it. CP 23–24.

Clark County moved to dismiss the appeal, arguing that Uminski failed to perfect it as required by RCW 51.52.110. CP 8–20. Uminski argued that he substantially complied because the Attorney General's office had received a copy of the appeal, though he did not claim that he served the appeal on the Attorney General's Office. CP 21–30. The superior court denied the motion to dismiss. CP 36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Uminski and Clark County have each asserted that the Board forwarded a copy of the appeal to the Attorney General's Office. Pet. at 2; Resp't Answer at 2. But as the Court of Appeals correctly observed, nothing in the record establishes how the Attorney General's Office received the appeal. Slip op. at 3; *see* CP 23–24.

#### B. The Court of Appeals Reversed the Superior Court

The Court of Appeals reversed the superior court, concluding that Uminski neither perfected his appeal nor substantially complied with RCW 51.52.110's service requirements. *Uminski*, slip op. at 7–8. The Court rejected Uminski's argument that he substantially complied with the service requirements under *Black*, because the worker in *Black* served the appeal on the assigned Assistant Attorney General, while Uminski did not serve the appeal on the Assistant Attorney General. *Id*. Rather, the Assistant Attorney General was aware of the case for reasons unrelated to Uminski's actions. *Id*. at 6.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict under RAP 13.4(d)(1) with *Black* because Uminski failed to serve his appeal in any fashion that was reasonably calculated to lead to the Director having actual knowledge of the case. The courts routinely apply the principle that a party needs to perfect its appeal of an administrative order to obtain appellate jurisdiction. *Stewart v. Dep't of Emp't Sec.*, 191 Wn.2d 42, 54, 419 P.3d 838 (2018) ("'[B]y failing to serve its [appeal] within the 30 day time limit,' a party 'fail[s] to invoke the superior court's appellate jurisdiction." (quoting *City of Seattle v. Pub. Emp't Relations Comm'n*, 116 Wn.2d 923, 929, 809 P.2d 1377 (1991))). Substantial compliance occurs

when a party completes some of the requirements of the appeal statute but does so in a procedurally flawed way, not when a party makes no attempt to serve a necessary party at all. *See Stewart*, 191 Wn.2d at 53; *Hernandez v*. *Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 107 Wn. App. 190, 196–97, 26 P.3d 977 (2001). Uminski insists that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Black*, but there is no conflict because the worker in *Black* served the appeal on the Assistant Attorney General, which Uminski did not do. *Compare* Pet. at 2, 4–6 *with Black*, 131 Wn.2d at 549, 553–55. Uminski shows no appellate conflict and review should be denied. RAP 13.4(b).

### A. Requiring a Party To Perfect Appellate Jurisdiction Does Not Conflict With Any Decisions of This Court or the Court of Appeals

Uminski fails to show any conflict necessitating review with *Black* or other case law because he failed to serve his appeal on either the Director or the Assistant Attorney General in any fashion. Uminski therefore did not perfect his appeal because he neither followed the express requirements of RCW 51.52.110 nor substantially complied with those requirements. The Court of Appeals properly dismissed his appeal because the appealing party must either comply with the statute's service requirements or substantially comply with them to properly invoke the superior court's appellate jurisdiction. *See Stewart*, 191 Wn.2d at 53; *Hernandez*, 107 Wn. App. at 196–97.

It is undisputed that Uminski did not follow the express service requirements of RCW 51.52.110, which provides the exclusive method for obtaining judicial review of the Board's decisions. It provides that an appealing party has 30 days from the date of receipt of the Board's final decision to file an appeal in superior court. RCW 51.52.110. To perfect an appeal, a party must serve the Director of the Department:

Such appeal shall be perfected by filing with the clerk of the court a notice of appeal and by serving a copy thereof by mail, or personally, on the director and on the board. If the case is one involving a self-insurer, a copy of the notice of appeal shall also be served by mail, or personally, on such self-insurer.

RCW 51.52.110. If the appealing party "fails to file with the superior court its appeal as provided in this section within said thirty days, the decision of the board to deny the petition or petitions for review or the final decision and order of the board shall become final." *Id*.

Appellate courts have repeatedly held that dismissal is required where the appellant timely filed a notice of appeal in superior court but did not timely serve the notice of appeal. *Fay v. Nw. Airlines, Inc.*, 115 Wn.2d 194, 199–201, 796 P.2d 412 (1990); *Corona v. Boeing Co.*, 111 Wn. App. 1, 8–9, 46 P.3d 253 (2002); *Hernandez*, 107 Wn. App. at 196–97, 199; *Petta v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 68 Wn. App. 406, 410–11, 842 P.2d 1006 (1992). A party who fails to comply with the statutory requirements

for filing and serving an appeal fails to invoke the court's appellate jurisdiction, so dismissal of such appeals is necessary. *See Fay*, 115 Wn.2d at 201; *Stewart*, 191 Wn.2d at 53; *Hernandez*, 107 Wn. App. at 196–97, 199; *Petta*, 68 Wn. App. at 410–11.

Uminski effectively concedes that he failed to serve the appeal on the Director and, instead, he argues that he substantially complied with the statute because the Attorney General's Office had actual knowledge of the appeal, which Uminski claims is sufficient under *Black*. See Pet. at 1–6. Uminski's argument fails. *Black* held that service of the appeal on the assigned Assistant Attorney General is sufficient to substantially comply with the statute's requirement to serve the Director, not that fortuitous knowledge of the appeal by any Assistant Attorney General suffices. See *Black*, 131 Wn.2d at 549, 553–55. Uminski neither served nor attempted to serve the appeal on either the Assistant Attorney General or the Director, and the Assistant Attorney General had knowledge of the appeal for reasons that are not explained by the record, but which in any event were not due to Uminski's actions. See CP 2, 11, 18–20. The Court of Appeals properly rejected the proposition that fortuitous knowledge is sufficient to show service. By that logic, an Assistant Attorney General who happened to read an article that mentioned a case would have "actual knowledge" of the appeal and it would not matter if the appealing party

failed to serve the appeal on either the Department or the Assistant
Attorney General. There can be any number of ways an Assistant Attorney
General could learn of an appeal, but the rules governing service do not
contemplate such a haphazard way to establish service.

Moreover, Uminski's argument misconstrues *Black*'s holding. Compare Pet. at 4–6 with Black, 131 Wn.2d at 549, 553–55. Black recognized that a worker can show substantial compliance by demonstrating either that the *Director* had actual knowledge of the appeal or that the worker *served* the appeal on the assigned Assistant Attorney General. Black, 131 Wn.2d at 553–55. Uminski does not contend that the Director had actual knowledge of the appeal, nor would the record support such an argument. *Black* referenced the Director having actual knowledge of the appeal because RCW 51.52.110 requires service on the Director. *Id. Black* concluded that service of the appeal on the assigned Assistant Attorney General is a method of serving the appeal on the Director that, while not the method set out in the statute, is nonetheless reasonably calculated to ensure that the Director has actual knowledge of the appeal. See id. Nowhere did Black suggest that the Assistant Attorney General's fortuitous knowledge of the appeal—regardless of how or why it exists is sufficient to establish substantial compliance with the statute.

And such a result would be contrary with *Black*'s underlying legal analysis, which was that substantial compliance consists of the appealing party attempting to serve the appeal on the necessary party in a fashion that was reasonably calculated to lead to the Director obtaining actual knowledge of the appeal. *See Black* at 553–55. Uminski did not attempt to serve the appeal on either the Director or the Assistant Attorney General in any fashion, so it is not true that he attempted service in a way that was reasonably calculated to lead to the Director having actual knowledge of the appeal. *Black* provides no support for Uminski's arguments and the Court of Appeals' decision here does not conflict with it.

Nor is Uminski correct that the Court of Appeals decision should be reversed because it would result in parties "routinely" requiring the Director to testify about whether the Director had personal knowledge of the appeal. Pet. at 8. Uminski claims that if showing actual knowledge by the Assistant Attorney General is insufficient to show substantial compliance, then appealing parties will need to attempt to have the Director testify about actual knowledge of the appeal. Pet. at 8–9. This argument fails for three reasons.

First, there is no need to attempt to invoke substantial compliance in the first place when the appealing party served the Director by mail as required by RCW 51.52.110, and workers and employers routinely serve

their appeals on the Director in that fashion. When the parties comply with RCW 51.52.110, the Director's individual knowledge is irrelevant.

Second, where a party serves the appeal on the assigned Assistant

Attorney General, the party can claim substantial compliance, again without needing to present any evidence about the Director's actual knowledge of it. *Black*, 131 Wn.2d at 549, 553, 555. Third, regardless of whether it would be easier for a party to present evidence about an Assistant Attorney General's knowledge of the appeal than about the Director's knowledge of it, evidence of the Assistant Attorney General's knowledge of the appeal is legally insufficient. To demonstrate substantial compliance, *Black* requires a party to either show that the Director had actual knowledge or that the party served the appeal on the Assistant Attorney General representing the Department in that case. *Id*.

It is also very unlikely that appealing parties would routinely fail to serve the appeal on either the Director or the Assistant Attorney General, yet have some good faith basis for believing that the Director had actual knowledge of the appeal. Uminski did not establish substantial compliance under *Black* or any other appellate decision, and the law of substantial compliance should not be changed simply because it might be challenging in a rare subset of cases to present evidence about the Director's knowledge of the appeal.

Uminski also attempts to rely on *Reeves v. Dep't of Gen. Admin.*, 35 Wn. App. 533, 537, 667 P.2d 1133 (1983), but that case supports the Court of Appeals' decision, not Uminski's arguments. Pet. at 9–11. Uminski incorrectly suggests that *Reeves* stands for the rule that where an Assistant Attorney General is authorized to represent a state agency, service of an appeal on an Assistant Attorney General is equivalent to service of the appeal on that state agency. *See* Pet. at 9–11. But *Reeves* held the opposite of this. *Reeves*, 35 Wn. App. at 537. *Reeves* held that where a statute directs service of an administrative appeal on the administrative agency's head, the party cannot serve the appeal on the Assistant Attorney General in lieu of the agency head, despite the fact that the Assistant Attorney General represents the agency. *Id*.

Uminski suggests that since *Black* recognized that a party can serve an appeal on an Assistant Attorney General, *Reeves* now stands for the rule that service of an appeal on the Assistant Attorney General is service on the agency head. But that argument misconstrues *Black*'s holding. *See* Pet. at 9–11. *Black* recognized that service of an appeal on an Assistant Attorney General substantially complies with the statute, not that service on the Assistant Attorney General was equivalent to serving the appeal on the agency head. And *Black* did not disturb *Reeves*'s holding that service of an appeal on an Assistant Attorney General is not

equivalent to service of the appeal on the Director. *Compare Black*, 131 Wn.2d at 549, 553–55 *with Reeves*, 35 Wn. App. at 537.

Indeed, it is precisely because service of an appeal on an Assistant Attorney General is not equivalent to service of the appeal on the agency head that *Black* had to consider whether the substantial compliance doctrine excused the appealing party's failure to follow the strict requirements of the statute. In any event, Uminski did not serve the Assistant Attorney General in this case so neither *Black* nor *Reeves* supports him. Uminski neither complied with the statute nor substantially complied with it, because he made no attempt to serve the appeal on either the Assistant Attorney General or the Director.

# B. The Court of Appeals' Rejection of the Superior Court's Incorrect Legal Analysis Does Not Conflict with the Case Law Regarding the Substantial Evidence Standard

Uminski also fails to show that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with case law recognizing that the appellate courts review questions of fact only for substantial evidence. *See* Pet. at 6–7. Uminski points to the superior court's use of the phrase "I find" to describe its legal conclusion that he substantially complied with the statute, and incorrectly argues that the Court of Appeals improperly substituted its judgment for the superior court on a question of fact. Pet. at 6–7. But whether a party substantially complied with the service requirements of a statute under the

undisputed facts of a case is a question of law, not fact. *See Meadow Valley Owners Ass'n v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 137 Wn. App. 810, 816, 156 P.3d 240 (2007) (Whether a legal conclusion flows from undisputed facts is a question of law that is reviewed de novo.). And it does not matter that the superior court used the words "I find" to describe its legal conclusion, because legal conclusions that are improperly labeled as findings of fact are properly reviewed as legal conclusions. *See Scott's Excavating Vancouver, LLC v. Winlock Props., LLC*, 176 Wn. App. 335, 342, 308 P.3d 791 (2013).

There was no dispute in this case about whether Uminski served the appeal on either the Attorney General's Office or the Director (he did not) nor whether an Assistant Attorney General had actual knowledge of the appeal (one did). The issue was whether the undisputed facts support the legal conclusion that Uminski substantially complied with the statute. This is a question of law, which the Court of Appeals properly reviewed de novo. *See Meadow Valley*, 137 Wn. App. at 816. Uminski's assertion that the Court of Appeals substituted its judgment for that of the trial court lacks merit and does not warrant review.

#### V. CONCLUSION

Uminski shows no conflict with *Black*, *Reeves*, or any other case law. Uminski made no attempt at serving his superior court appeal on

either the Director or the Assistant Attorney General so he neither complied with the service statute nor substantially complied with it. The cases Uminski cites do not say otherwise; indeed, they support the Court of Appeals' decision. The Court of Appeals properly directed the dismissal of his appeal and this Court should deny review consistent with RAP 13.4(b).